097

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE COLOR

MAY 22 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

Case No. 84,897 [TFB Case Nos. 93-31,809 (09E) and 94-30,110 (09E)]

GARY G. GRAHAM,

Respondent.

#### COMPLAINANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

and

CARLOS E. TORRES
FRANCES R. BROWN
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, FL 32801
(407) 425-5424

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 24, 1993, the respondent was removed from the office of county court judge for misconduct by Order of the Supreme Court of Florida. On August 5, 1993, the allegations of misconduct which caused the respondent's removal from judicial office were forwarded to the Ninth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "E" for a review of the respondent's conduct under the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. At the probable cause vote on April 11, 1994, the grievance committee found no probable cause, with a letter of advice to be issued to the respondent, pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.4(1).

At its June, 1994 meeting, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar voted to overturn the grievance committee's finding of no probable cause and, instead, entered a finding of probable cause against the respondent pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.5(a). On December 23, 1994, the bar filed a 15 Count Complaint against the respondent. Counts one (I) through thirteen (XIII) pertained to the charges of misconduct for which the respondent was removed from judicial office by the Supreme Court of Florida. Counts fourteen (XIV) and fifteen (XV) concerned the respondent's conduct prior to and during the hearings before the Judicial Qualifications

Commission (JQC). On January 11, 1995, The Honorable Chester B.

Chance was appointed as referee and on January 17, 1995, the respondent filed his Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the bar's Complaint. The bar replied to the respondent's affirmative defenses on January 27, 1995.

A hearing was conducted on February 24, 1995 before the referee on the respondent's First Motion For Continuance and First Motion In Limine. By order dated March 2, 1995, the referee reset the respondent's motion for continuance for a case management conference on March 10, 1995. In his order, the referee gave further guidance as to how the parties were to proceed in the case. Specifically, the parties were to submit memorandums of law concerning the issue of whether the bar may seek disciplinary action against a former judicial officer whose acts of misconduct were committed while acting as a judge and did not involve the commission of a crime, dishonesty, deceit, immorality or moral turpitude.

Subsequent to the submission of the memorandums at the case management conference on March 10, 1995, and prior to any evidentiary hearings, the referee issued an Order Dismissing Counts

I Through XIII With Prejudice, dated March 24, 1995, concerning the bar's formal Complaint against the respondent. Those counts concerned the specific acts of misconduct which resulted in the respondent's removal from the bench. The remaining two counts of the Complaint were not dismissed. At its April, 1995 meeting, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar voted to seek review of the referee's dismissal of the first thirteen (13) counts of the bar's Complaint. The bar served its Petition For Review on April 19, 1995.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The respondent was a county court judge for Citrus County, Florida, and was first elected in 1986. In April, 1993, after a lengthy hearing in front of the Judicial Qualifications Commission (JQC), the respondent was found guilty of repeated violations of the Code of Judicial Conduct and it was recommended he be removed from judicial office. The commission found the respondent had engaged in a large number of separate actions of misconduct involving making statements directly impugning the integrity of other public officials, repeated improper sentencing, undignified and discourteous behavior toward others in his courtroom, and conduct damaging the public's perception of the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary. Additionally, the JQC found the respondent's actions during the JQC hearing to be disruptive, scandalous, improper, and contemptuous. The JQC noted the respondent's lack of temperament for a judicial proceeding. The Supreme Court of Florida, in reviewing the JQC findings and recommendations, noted the respondent was not dishonest, venal or quilty of moral turpitude, but nonetheless, ordered he be removed from judicial office.

Subsequently, Fifth Judicial Circuit Judge John T. Thurman

filed a complaint against the respondent with The Florida Bar [TFB Case No. 94-30,110 (09E)]. The complaint pertained to the respondent's taking of Judge Thurman's deposition in preparation for the respondent's defense to the charges brought by the JQC. Judge Thurman accused the respondent of attempting to harass and embarrass him during the deposition as the respondent's specific questions were not reasonably calculated to obtain discoverable evidence.

On December 23, 1994, The Florida Bar filed a fifteen (15) count Complaint against the respondent. The first thirteen (13) counts concerned the specific incidents of misconduct committed by the respondent while he was a county court judge for which he was removed from office. Count fourteen (14) generally alleged that the respondent's conduct during the JQC proceedings was improper and prejudicial to the administration of justice. Count fifteen (15) pertained to the allegations brought by Judge Thurman against the respondent.

On February 24, 1995, during a motion hearing in this bar disciplinary case, The Honorable Chester B. Chance, sitting as referee, discussed a recent disciplinary case concerning an

attorney being held in contempt for failing to pay court ordered child support. The referee indicated that the Supreme Court of Florida had declined to discipline the attorney because the child support matter did not involve the commission of crime or fraudulent conduct and had no bearing on the attorney's fitness to practice law. In that regard, the referee expressed his concern as to whether acts by a judicial officer that do not involve a crime, fraudulent conduct, deceit, moral turpitude, etc., were subject to the jurisdiction of The Florida Bar. The referee asked the respondent and bar counsel to submit memorandums on that issue and the requested memorandums were submitted at a case management conference on March 10, 1995.

On March 24, 1995, the referee entered an order dismissing with prejudice counts one (1) through thirteen (13) of the bar's complaint. The referee found that in all prior bar cases where a former judge was disciplined for misconduct while acting as a judge, there were findings of misrepresentation, dishonesty, fraud, moral turpitude and/or criminal conduct. It was the referee's finding that while counts one (1) through thirteen (13) of the bar's complaint described a pattern of conduct showing a severe lack of judicial temperament, they did not suggest that the

respondent is unfit to practice law or that the respondent is dishonest, venal or guilty of moral turpitude. Therefore, according to the referee, the first thirteen (13) counts did not allege conduct subject to attorney discipline.

The referee did not dismiss count fourteen (14) pertaining to the respondent's conduct during the JQC proceedings or count fifteen (15) with respect to the charges brought by Judge Thurman against the respondent. Those two (2) counts are currently pending.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court of Florida has given The Florida Bar the authority to institute attorney discipline proceedings against a former judge for any misconduct which resulted in the judge's removal or resignation from judicial office. While the Judicial Qualifications Commission has jurisdiction over the conduct of sitting judges, The Florida Bar has jurisdiction over judges when they no longer hold judicial office. A judge is still a member of The Florida Bar while a member of the judiciary. As such, the enforcement of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar is merely suspended during the judge's tenure in office, and is not waived.

In this case, the respondent was removed from the position of county court judge for numerous incidents of misconduct. Accordingly, The Florida Bar instituted disciplinary proceedings against the respondent charging him with engaging in conduct, in general terms, that was prejudicial to the administration of justice. In the past, former judges who were removed or resigned from office for misconduct have been disciplined as attorneys, and those cases mainly involved some form of immoral or criminal conduct on the part of the former judge. Although there were no findings of moral turpitude, immorality or criminal conduct in the

respondent's removal from the bench, his misconduct was sufficiently serious enough for The Supreme Court of Florida to remove him from office. Therefore, the bar has properly instituted these proceedings for a determination of whether the respondent's judicial misconduct also violates the rules governing attorney conduct.

The purpose of these proceedings is to determine whether the respondent's judicial misconduct reflects adversely on his fitness as a lawyer and member of the bar. It is the Supreme Court of Florida which has the ultimately authority to determine all bar disciplinary proceedings. However, the referee has dismissed the allegations in the bar's Complaint against the respondent concerning his judicial misconduct by, in essence, determining that the bar does not have the authority to pursue this disciplinary case because there have been no findings of immorality or criminal conduct. The referee has based his position on a prior bar disciplinary case and on out of state cases that have little authority over the instant matter before this Court. The bar is seeking, based upon the authority granted by this Court, a determination after a review of all the evidence as to whether the respondent's conduct as alleged in all fifteen (15) counts of the bar's Complaint, violates he Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

#### ARGUMENT

#### <u>Point I</u>

THE FLORIDA BAR HAS THE AUTHORITY TO INSTITUTE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS AGAINST A FORMER JUDGE WHO WAS REMOVED FROM JUDICIAL OFFICE FOR MISCONDUCT.

Article 5, Section 15 of the Florida Constitution grants The Supreme Court of Florida "exclusive jurisdiction to regulate the admission of persons to the practice of law and the discipline of persons admitted." Article 5, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution provides a judicial qualifications commission with "jurisdiction to investigate and recommend to the Supreme Court of Florida the removal from office of any justice or judge whose conduct....demonstrates a present unfitness to hold office, and to investigate and recommend the reprimand of a justice or judge whose conduct....warrants such a reprimand." In both provisions of the Constitution, the Supreme Court of Florida has the ultimate authority over the discipline of attorneys and members of the judiciary.

The Supreme Court of Florida has granted The Florida Bar the authority to pursue discipline proceedings against former judges

who were removed or resigned from office for misconduct. The bar only has this authority once a judge's tenure in office has ended as the Judicial Qualifications Commission (JQC) has the exclusive authority to institute discipline proceedings against sitting judges. Additionally, R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.5 permits, where it is appropriate, the suspension of a former judge as an attorney subsequent to the judge's removal from office by the Supreme Court of Florida on the basis of a JQC proceeding.

One of the first Florida cases to discuss attorney discipline proceedings against a former judge was The Florida Bar v. McCain, 330 So. 2d 712 (Fla. 1976). That case was instituted through an interlocutory appeal by McCain of the decision by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar to proceed with disciplinary proceedings concerning McCain's resignation from the bench for misconduct. McCain argued that the bar did not have jurisdiction to discipline an attorney for misconduct which occurred when he was a judicial officer. The Court pointed out that such an argument was an misinterpretation of the Court's authority. "The responsibility for disbarring, suspending or otherwise disciplining lawyers who are admitted to practice in Florida rests with this Court alone." (At pg. 714). The Court in McCain, supra, rejected

the assertion that a lawyer's conduct during judicial office could not be considered in bar disciplinary proceedings and viewed that proposition as "a challenge to this Court's jurisdiction and is tantamount to a claim that a lawyer is immune from discipline for the most egregious ethical improprieties, so long as his misconduct disgraced not only the bar but the bench as well." Therefore, the Court made the following ruling:

We reject the contention that a lawyer's status as former judge or justice immunizes him from discipline for ethical violations occurring during judicial tenure. We adopt for Florida the general rule that 'misconduct in ...a judgeship, reflects upon an attorney's fitness to practice law and is consequently a proper ground for discipline.'" [Citing Annot., 57 A.L.R.3d 1150, 1158 (1974)]. At pg. 715.

Subsequent to the above referenced ruling, the bar pursued disciplinary proceedings in <u>The Florida Bar v. McCain</u> 361 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 1978). McCain was charged with tampering with the administration of justice by trying to influence the decision of a lower court and attempting to tamper with and influence the results of a motion pending before another lower court while McCain was a member of the judiciary. The Court held that The Florida Bar "may institute disciplinary proceedings against an attorney for **any** improper act bearing on his current fitness to practice law, even

when that act occurred while such attorney held judicial office."

At p. 701. (Emphasis added). As a result, and based upon the findings and recommendations of the referee, the Court ordered McCain be disbarred.

In rendering its order in the bar disciplinary case against McCain, the Court made no pronouncements limiting bar disciplinary actions against former judges to specific acts of misconduct. the bar's knowledge, there has never been any ruling by the Supreme Court of Florida confining the bar to the institution of disciplinary proceedings only on certain acts of misconduct. As recently as 1992, the Court, in a bar disciplinary case, found simply that misconduct as a judge may be grounds for attorney discipline. The Florida Bar v. Gross, 610 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1992). Accordingly, based upon the Florida Constitution, the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, and Florida disciplinary proceedings can be instituted against a former judge based upon any misconduct engaged in during judicial office as such acts of misconduct reflect on the former judge's fitness to practice law.

#### POINT II

THE REFEREE ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN DISMISSING COUNTS I THROUGH XIII OF THE FLORIDA BAR'S FORMAL COMPLAINT AGAINST THE RESPONDENT.

In his order dismissing Counts I through XIII of the bar's Complaint, the referee cites disciplinary cases from Georgia and Oklahoma as part of the basis for his dismissal. asserts that those cases are not dispositive of these proceedings in Florida. In citing Gordon v. Clinkscales, 215 Ga. 843, 114 S.E.2d 15, 19 (1960), the referee recognized in his order that said case concerned a disbarment proceeding of a sitting judge. Although disbarment of a sitting judge may incidentally remove a judge from office, incidental removal is not an issue in the present case because the removal proceeding was instituted by the The courts in the Gordon case and State Ex Rel, Oklahoma Bar Association v. Sullivan, 596 P.2d 864 (Okla. 1979), also cited by the referee, required a stricter standard be applied to the conduct of former judges in subsequent attorney disciplinary proceedings. Other states have different disciplinary systems and procedures which result in their own rules and requirements. However, out of state disciplinary cases are not authoritative over disciplinary matters in Florida. While some other states may have determined

that attorneys may be disciplined for misconduct performed in their capacities as former judges, with the qualification that the judicial misconduct must involve some form of criminal conduct or moral turpitude, that has never been the law or rule in Florida.

The referee's reliance upon a recent bar disciplinary case, The Florida Bar v. Taylor, 648 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 1995), is also misplaced. The issue in the <u>Taylor</u> case was whether an attorney could be disciplined for violating a civil order of contempt for failing to pay court ordered child support. The referee in that case found that the child support situation did not have an adverse impact on Taylor's ability to practice law, nor did it involve dishonesty, moral turpitude, immorality, deceit, or breach of trust. While the Court did not condone Taylor's conduct, the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar at that time did not give the bar the authority to pursue disciplinary proceedings against an attorney for failing to meet a civil obligation such as child support. Moreover, other disciplinary cases involving contempt findings involved criminal contempt and/or some other fraudulent conduct. As a result, Taylor was found not guilty of the rule violations However, both the Florida Legislature and the Court recognized the need for a rule amendment to allow for discipline

against attorneys who fail to pay their child support obligations so that the rules would be more in line with sanctions by the Department of Professional Regulation against other professionals for the same conduct. The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar did seek such a rule amendment and, effective February 9, 1995, R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(h) allows for attorneys to be disciplined for willfully refusing to timely pay a child support obligation.

Obviously, the <u>Taylor</u> case did not involve a former judge. Taylor was charged with engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice as the respondent has been charged in this case. However, the <u>Taylor</u> case does not stand for the proposition that in all cases for there to be a finding of conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice, a finding of fraudulent or criminal conduct is also required. Such a limitation would impede the bar's ability to regulate the conduct of attorneys. Further, the ruling made in the <u>Taylor</u> case was based upon the specific circumstances and facts of that case. The Court's specific ruling was, "... we find that our present disciplinary rules do not grant us the authority to discipline an attorney for the failure to meet a civil obligation such as child support absent a finding of fraudulent or dishonest conduct." The

current Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provide for disciplinary proceedings against former judges for the misconduct which caused their removal from office and there is no prohibition against those proceedings even if there is an absence of dishonest or fraudulent conduct. Accordingly, the referee's interpretation of the ruling in *Taylor* that "... where alleged misconduct has no bearing on an attorney's ability to practice law and does not involve dishonesty, moral turpitude, immorality, deceit, or breach of trust, the alleged misconduct is not subject to discipline" is incorrect. [Order, p. 9].

The bar also takes exception to the referee's finding that:

The thirteen counts of the complaint describe a pattern of conduct demonstrating a severe lack of judicial temperament on the part of Respondent. They do not, however, suggest that Respondent is unfit to practice law, nor do they suggest that Respondent is dishonest, venal, or guilty of moral turpitude. [Order, p. 9].

The bar asserts that all the allegations of the complaint, taken as a whole, show a serious pattern of unprofessionalism, contempt for the judicial process and, at times, irrational behavior which clearly calls into question the respondent's fitness not only as a judge but his fitness as an attorney and a member of the bar.

During the time the respondent held judicial office, he was still an attorney and member of The Florida Bar subject to the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida. The bar's ability to initiate disciplinary proceedings against the respondent was merely suspended during his tenure in judicial office, it was never extinguished. Even though the respondent was not engaged in the practice of law during his tenure in judicial office, he was still a member of the bar and subject to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. See <u>The Florida Bar v. St. Laurent</u>, 617 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 1993); <u>The Florida Bar v. Della-Donna</u>, 583 So. 2d 307, 310 (Fla. 1989).

In dismissing Counts I through XIII of the bar's Complaint, the referee has, in effect, determined that all attorney discipline cases against former judges who were removed from office for misconduct can only proceed if there are findings of criminal conduct, dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or moral turpitude. However, the referee has not cited any authority in his order which supports the proposition that limits the bar to instituting disciplinary proceedings against former judges only where there is criminal conduct or moral turpitude. Such a limitation would undermine this Court's exclusive jurisdiction over attorney discipline proceedings

and obstruct the bar's ability to regulate the conduct attorneys. There should not be any restriction on the bar as to what type of misconduct by former judges can result in attorney discipline proceedings. The present Rules Regulating The Florida Bar make no provision for former judges to be exempt from any of so would require this Court requirements. Τo do specifically carve out an exception to the rules on the part of former judges that is not otherwise applicable to the rest of the members The Florida Bar. Because this Court has the ultimate authority over both judicial and attorney discipline matters, there is little room for abuse of the discipline system by the bar against former judges.

The purpose of these proceedings is not to review the wisdom of this Court's removal of the respondent from judicial office nor is it to re-litigate the issues already resolved by the JQC. All the bar is seeking in these proceedings is a thorough review of the respondent's conduct as alleged in the bar's Complaint. It is quite conceivable that after a full evidentiary hearing on all the allegations, a referee and/or this Court could determine the respondent is not guilty of some or all of the rule violations charged, or that the facts requiring the respondent's removal from

judicial office may not necessarily require his suspension or disbarment as an attorney. There are varying forms of discipline that can be imposed against an offending member of the bar, so a finding of guilt does not always mean disbarment is to follow. Therefore, based upon the authority granted by the Supreme Court of Florida, the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and Florida case law, disciplinary proceedings against the respondent based on all fifteen (15) counts of the bar's Complaint are required and are appropriate.

#### POINT III

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