IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

CASE NO: 84,897 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Ву.

Chief Deputy Clark

v.

GARY G. GRAHAM,

Respondent.

Complainant,

ANSWER BRIEF

GARY G. GRAHAM Florida Bar Number 307-505 407 Courthouse Square Inverness, Florida 34450 (904) 637-2637

RECEIVED

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

MAR 27 1995

THE FLURIUM BAR

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

-vs-

SUPREME COURT CASE NO: 84,897 (93-31,809(09E) & 94-30,110(09E)

GARY G. GRAHAM,

Respondent.

## ORDER DISMISSING COUNTS I THROUGH XIII WITH PREJUDICE

THIS CAUSE came to be heard upon the complaint filed by THE FLORIDA BAR against Respondent GARY G. GRAHAM. The first thirteen counts of THE FLORIDA BAR's complaint pertain to acts allegedly committed by Respondent acting in his capacity as county court judge for Citrus County, Florida. These thirteen counts are summarized below.

In Count I, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent grossly abused his judicial power by increasing the sentence he imposed upon a defendant from a six month suspension of defendant's driver's license to a nine month suspension, and finally to a one year suspension, merely because the defendant questioned the fairness of the sentences. (Complaint ¶¶ 10-16).

In Count II, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent, upon learning that a defendant standing before the court was a shrimper, stated in open court that shrimpers were unsavory characters that tended to be in trouble. It is further alleged that Respondent ordered the defendant not to associate with anyone engaged in the

business of shrimping. He then changed his order and placed defendant on probation with the special condition that she find alternative employment. The Respondent's order did not have any relation to the crime for which the defendant was charged. (Complaint ¶¶ 17-21).

In Count III, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent sentenced a defendant to probation and as part of the sentence, ordered the defendant to perform 40 hours of community service for the state attorney's office. It is further alleged that Respondent stated he would suspend ten hours of the community service if the defendant washed the State Attorney's car with the t-shirt defendant was wearing in court. (Complaint ¶¶ 22-27).

In Count IV, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that when the mother of one defendant in a case before Respondent questioned the fairness of the sentence he imposed, the Respondent stated to the mother in open court, "You know what his problem is, his problem is you. It is not me. It is you. I can tell by the way you are defending him." It is further alleged that Respondent then engaged courtroom personnel and spectators in a speech designed to further embarrass the defendant's mother and, in so doing, needlessly utilized vulgar and highly inappropriate language. (Complaint ¶¶ 28-32).

In Count V, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent was the presiding judge in a case where a defendant was charged with misdemeanor battery on his estranged wife. It is further alleged that as a condition of probation, the Respondent prohibited the

defendant from having any contact with his children and that such condition had no relation to the crime for which defendant was charged. (Complaint  $\P\P$  33-36).

In Count VI, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that the Respondent was the presiding judge in two cases involving misdemeanor possession of marijuana. In one case, Respondent ordered as a condition of the sentence, that the defendant assist the Citrus County Sheriff's Office in "two buys and two sells." In the other case, Respondent ordered the defendant to "assist the state attorney's office in catching a drug dealer" as a condition of his sentence of probation. It is further alleged that the Respondent had insufficient evidence to determine whether the defendants were suitable to participate in such transactions and whether the Citrus County Sheriff's Office or the state attorney's office desired the defendants' assistance. (Complaint ¶¶ 37-43).

In Count VII, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent, in open court and without factual basis, accused an assistant public defender and a defendant of deliberately falsifying a transcript used in the defendant's appeal. (Complaint ¶¶ 44-47).

In Count VIII, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent, without a factual basis, accused a captain and investigator of the Citrus County Sheriff's Office of improperly releasing a defendant on his own recognizance and "trading official actions for other beneficial acts by the defendant." The respondent sentenced defendant to 90 days in the county jail as punishment for his

"improper" release, stating in open court that a ten day sentence would have otherwise been appropriate. In refusing to mitigate the sentence, Respondent directed the defendant to "tell your friends that's what you get for trading favors to get out of the Citrus County Jail." (Complaint ¶¶ 48-54).

In Count IX, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent, during a hearing in open court, accused the state attorney's office of routinely lessening DUI (driving under the influence) offenses for lawyers and doctors to reckless driving, and specifically accused State Attorney Brad King of favoritism in the disposition of DUI cases while Brad King was an assistant state attorney. Respondent repeatedly demanded that the Chief Assistant State Attorney explain the exercise of discretion by the state attorney's office in charging the case before him as a misdemeanor rather than a felony so that Respondent could ascertain whether the decision was the result of politics and favoritism. (Complaint. ¶¶ 55-60).

In Count X, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent called an attorney who had been waiting for a hearing into his chambers. Respondent berated the attorney for being improperly dressed for court. The attorney in question was wearing a leather sports coat with matching pants and tie. While berating the attorney, Respondent poked the attorney in the chest with his finger.

The attorney advised Respondent that he had worn the coat in approximately 35 state and federal courts in Florida without incident and that he did not believe the coat was inappropriate

courtroom attire. However, the attorney apologized and informed Respondent that he would not wear the coat in Respondent's courtroom again.

Respondent rejected the attorney's explanation and apology as "not good enough" and required the attorney to wear the Respondent's coat back into the courtroom. Respondent's coat was several sizes too small for the attorney and he was greeted with laughter by courtroom spectators. The attorney described this incident as unnecessary and demeaning. (Complaint ¶¶ 61-67).

In Count XI, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent was designated as Acting Circuit Court Judge for Citrus County due to the temporary absence of the circuit judge normally assigned to the county's criminal docket. In carrying out his duties, Respondent improperly conducted closed proceedings in a high profile murder case. (Complaint ¶¶ 69-75).

In Count XII, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent, in open court, accused State Attorney Brad King and by implication, Chief Circuit Court Judge William T. Swigert, of ex parte communication which Respondent claimed resulted in the "improper" revocation of his appointment as Acting Circuit Court Judge. Respondent further accused Brad King of seeking Respondent's revocation because Brad King was displeased with Respondent's recent decisions in a circuit court case.

In Count XIII, THE FLORIDA BAR alleges that Respondent made disparaging and insulting remarks about Citrus County attorneys

while interviewed by a reporter from a local Citrus County newspaper. The Respondent ultimately issued a statement in the nature of an apology for his remarks, but later stated in pleadings before the Judicial Qualifications Commission that the only ethical mistake he made as a judge was to issue said apology.

These thirteen counts allege conduct almost identical to the conduct for which Respondent was removed from office as county court judge for Citrus County. Although the allegations, if taken as true, reveal a serious lack of judicial temperament on the part of Respondent, nothing in the allegations indicate that Respondent is dishonest, venal, or guilty of moral turpitude.

In fact, the Florida Supreme Court in explaining Respondent's conduct noted that:

As a county judge, Graham made what he perceived to be a valiant effort at ridding Citrus County of political favoritism and corruption that caused the demise of his predecessor. His zealous pursuit of a pure society apparently clouded his ability to impartially adjudicate the matters before him. His motives are acceptable, but his methods are not. . . We recognize that Graham is not dishonest, venal, or guilty of moral turpitude. In Re Graham, 620 So. 2d 1273, 1275 (Fla. 1993).

The issue before this Court is whether such conduct can form the basis of a disciplinary proceeding against Respondent as an attorney, notwithstanding the proceedings already completed to remove him as a judge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See <u>Inquiry Concerning a Judge, No. 91-415</u>, Florida Judicial Qualifications Commission, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendation of Removal, Case No. 80,273, approved by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>In Re Graham</u>, 620 So. 2d 1273 (Fla. 1993).

The Florida Supreme Court first addressed the issue of whether an attorney may be disciplined for acts committed by him in his official capacity as a judge in <a href="The Florida Bar v. McCain">The Florida Bar v. McCain</a>, 330 So. 2d 712 (Fla. 1976). In holding that judicial acts may form the basis of attorney discipline, the Court cited to decisions from other jurisdictions which found almost unanimously that a judge who is no longer sitting may be disciplined as an attorney for judicial misconduct.

In particular, the Court quoted approvingly from <u>Gordon v.</u> <u>Clinkscales</u>, 215 Ga. 843, 114 S.E.2d 15, 19 (1960) which held that judicial misconduct could result in disbarment of a sitting judge. However, the <u>Gordon</u> court qualified its holding, explaining that:

· · · [A] judge cannot be disbarred for any official act dictated by his understanding of the law, irrespective of how erroneous his judgment might be, In order to make his conduct in office a valid ground for disbarment, it must be clearly and specifically alleged and proved that such conduct resulted solely from dishonorable motive and was not thought by him to be his duty and within his This being the rule, no honest judge could authority. ever be disbarred for judicial acts no matter how erroneous they might be. We hold that want of knowledge, unsound judgment, or bias and prejudice on the part of a judge constitute no grounds for disbarring him. there may never be any misconstruction of this ruling, we hold further that his official acts, even showing they are contrary to law and biased or prejudicial, constitute evidence even circumstantial of corruption or dishonesty in a disbarment proceeding against him and therefore must not be allowed either in pleadings or evidence.

Although the <u>Gordon</u> Court dealt with the issue of whether a <u>sitting</u> judge could be disbarred, its ruling is applicable to disciplinary proceedings against a <u>former</u> judge. In both instances, the judge's

fitness to practice as an attorney is at issue. Although with a sitting judge, disbarment may incidentally result in removal of the judge from office, in Florida, removal is effected by proceedings with the Judicial Qualifications Commission. Incidental removal is not an issue in the instant case.

Notably, Oklahoma followed the <u>Gordon</u> rule in determining whether a <u>former</u> judge could be disciplined as an attorney for judicial misconduct. <u>State Ex Rel. Oklahoma Bar Association v. Sullivan</u>, 596 P.2d 864 (Okla. 1979). The Oklahoma court explained that if the judiciary is to maintain its independence, an attorney cannot be disciplined for acts committed in his official capacity as judge unless such acts involve moral turpitude of a fraudulent, criminal or dishonest nature. <u>Id</u>.

Like the Oklahoma court, many courts have acknowledged that an attorney may be disciplined for acts performed in his capacity as a former judge, with the qualification that the judicial misconduct must have involved moral turpitude in some form. See Frank D. Wagner, Annotation, Misconduct in Capacity as Judge as a Basis for Disciplinary Action Against Attorney, 57 A.L.R. 3d 1150, 1162-1163 (1974).

Of the Florida cases this court has found involving attorney disciplinary actions against former judges, all involve some form of moral turpitude as the basis of the disciplinary action. See The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 1976), The Florida Bar v. Sepe, 380 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1980), The Florida Bar v. Gross,

610 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1992).

Moreover, the Florida Supreme Court has recently held that where alleged misconduct has no bearing on an attorney's ability to practice law and does not involve dishonesty, moral turpitude, immorality, deceit, or breach of trust, the alleged misconduct is not subject to discipline. The Florida Bar v. Taylor, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S20 (Fla. Jan. 5, 1995).

Similarly, this Court finds that the first thirteen counts of THE FLORIDA BAR'S complaint against Respondent do not allege conduct subject to attorney discipline. The thirteen counts of the complaint describe a pattern of conduct demonstrating a severe lack of judicial temperament on the part of Respondent. They do not, however, suggest that Respondent is unfit to practice law, nor do they suggest that Respondent is dishonest, venal, or guilty of moral turpitude.

This Court directed the parties to submit written memoranda addressing whether THE FLORIDA BAR may seek disciplinary action against a former judicial officer whose alleged misconduct are acts committed while acting as a judge, and such acts do not involve the commission of a crime, dishonesty, moral turpitude, immorality, deceit, or breach of trust. Having read the memoranda and being otherwise fully informed in the premises, the Court finds that the first thirteen counts of THE FLORIDA BAR's complaint do not allege misconduct that may form the basis for disciplinary action. Thus the Court is without jurisdiction to entertain further proceedings

page 10

The Florida Bar v. Gary G. Graham Order Dismissing Counts I through XIII

pursuant to these counts. The Court further finds that these counts cannot be amended by THE FLORIDA BAR to state justiciable issues in these proceedings. Accordingly,

IT IS ADJUDGED that Counts I through XIII of the complaint are dismissed with prejudice.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Gainesville, Alachua County day of March, 1995. Florida this

MESTER B. CHANCE, CIRCUIT JUDGE